
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, AUGUST 24, 2021 – 5:00 PM 

AGENDA 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

ANYONE WISHING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD REGARDING ANY 

TOPIC ON THIS EVENING’S AGENDA IS REQUESTED TO COMPLETE A CARD AVAILABLE 

AT THE CLERK’S DESK. SPEAKERS ARE RESPECTFULLY REQUESTED TO LIMIT THEIR 

COMMENTS TO THREE (3) MINUTES. 

THE PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD PROHIBITS THE USE OF CELL PHONES AND PAGES 

WHICH EMIT AN AUDIBLE SOUND DURING ALL MEETINGS WITH THE EXCEPTION OF LAW 

ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND RESCUE, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS ON CALL. 

PERSONS IN VIOLATION WILL BE REQUESTED TO LEAVE THE MEETING. 

THIS WILL BE AN IN-PERSON MEETING. PLEASE FOLLOW SOCIAL DISTANCING 

PROTOCOLS 

ROLL CALL 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Review and approval of minutes from the June 22, 2021 and July 27, 2021 meetings. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2. Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning Request for property located in the 

1300 Block of Energy Cove Court for approximately 9.4 acres. 

Future Land Use Amendment:  

from: Mixed Use Highway 

to: Residential High Density  

Zoning Amendment:  

from: C-2, General Commercial and M-2, Industrial 

to: R-3, Residential High Density 

 

BOARD BUSINESS 

Page 1



August 24, 2021 Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 

BOARD DISCUSSION / COMMENTS 

STAFF COMMENTS 

ADJOURNMENT  

NEXT MEETING: TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 28, 2021 AT 5:00PM 

 

Minutes of the Planning & Zoning Board Meeting can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office. The 

Minutes are recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim.  

Persons requiring a verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the 

recordings, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting. The cost of duplication and/or court 

reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

ADA NOTICE  

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Special 

Magistrate and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasi-judicial 

decision by the Special Magistrate. The exchanges must be disclosed by the Special Magistrate 

 

Page 2



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JUNE 22, 2021 – 5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

ROLL CALL 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00pm.  

PRESENT 
Chairman Henrietta Francis 

Vice Chair Gary Luke 

Board Member Brian Cook 

Board Member Justin Hall 

Board Member Richard Hobbs 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

1. Review and approval of the minutes for the May 25, 2021 meeting. 

Motion to approve the minutes for the May 25, 2021 meeting. 

Motion made by Board Member Hall, Seconded by Vice Chair Luke. Voting Yea: Chairman 

Francis, Vice Chair Luke, Board Member Cook, Board Member Hall, Board Member Hobbs. 

Motion passes 5-0. 

BOARD BUSINESS 

STAFF COMMENTS 

2. Comprehensive Plan Discussion 

Mr. Daniels introduce the discussion. Board Member (BM) Cook expressed interest in 

increased board involvement with the comprehensive plan update. 

Mr. Daniels gave a progress update on what has been done to date, including public 

engagement, before summarizing the Future Land Use element recommendations provided by 

the consultant. The Board discussed the proposed land uses as well as protecting public access 

to the St. Johns River. 

City Manager Kennedy informed the board a Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) may 

be feasible. 

BM Cook discussed the possibility of a mooring field for revenue purposes.  

Page 3

Item #  1.



June 22, 2021 Minutes Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 

Mr. Daniels discussed the population projections with the Board, then explained compatibility 

between the land uses and zoning. 

Mr. Daniels then introduced the Recreation and Open Space element, discussing the park 

inventory and the proposed park spaces. The Board discussed the level of service as it relates 

to public and private facilities, then discussed ways to various level of service options, 

including acreage per population and facilities per population. The Board supported the City 

developing a Park Master Plan and engaging the community in the development of it. 

Chairman Francis discussed affordable housing and referenced plans she had reviewed that 

had good language in them for staff to reference, including Sanford and Daytona. 

BM Cook discussed economic development and incentivizing industry and educational 

facilities. 

Transitioning topics, Mr. Daniels informed the Board the Ayrshire PUD would be brought to 

them in July, and that staff would prepare the agenda earlier than normal to provide additional 

time for their review. 

ADJOURNMENT  

The meeting was adjourned at 7:17 p.m. 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Henrietta Francis, Chairman 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Heather Glisson, Planning & Zoning Clerk  

 

Page 4

Item #  1.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JULY 27, 2021 – 5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

ROLL CALL 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00pm. 

PRESENT 
Chairman Henrietta Francis 

Vice Chair Gary Luke 

Board Member Brian Cook 

Board Member Richard Hobbs 

 

ABSENT 
Board Member Justin Hall 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. Request to rezone property from Agriculture / Industrial (County) to Planned Unit 

Development for the Ayrshire Development on land owned by Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc., 

approximately 560.52 acres on CR 15 A, a portion of 016515-000-00 

Mr. Daniels introduced the application. Updated redline copies of the Planned Unit 

Development (PUD) written description were provided to the Board, as well as updated copies 

of the conceptual map. These were submitted by the applicant in response to staff comments 

after the agenda had been published. 

At this time, no segment failures are shown on the traffic impact analysis. The intersection 

analysis is still in progress. The developer is proposing to build a 4-lane roadway which 

connects from their property, through city property, to US 17, decreasing the impact on CR 

15A. The traffic study looks beyond the city limits. A Developer's Agreement will be required 

and will have to go through the public hearing process; it will include items related to traffic 

impact, as well as agreements related to land dedication, park dedication fees, and similar 

items. 

Vice Chair Luke asked about existing failures in transportation. With a new development, if 

they're not creating a failure, we cannot require mitigation. If they're causing a failure, they 

have to mitigate it. Vice Chair Luke expressed concern about the intersection of US 17 and 

Ferris. Anything below a level D is a failure pursuant to our Comprehensive Plan. Mr. Daniels 

discussed County roadway projects and development surrounding the city that is impacting 

the roadways. 

Page 5

Item #  1.



July 27, 2021 Minutes Page 2 of 5 

 

 

Mr. Daniels explained the PUD written description. Minimum lot size is 43 feet. At least 50% 

of the lots will be 50 feet in width. Board Member Cook asked if it is common to not include 

nonresidential development to allow for a corner store. Mr. Daniels explained the developer 

is not interested in doing commercial. There are codes in existence that require commercial 

development with a certain amount of residential development, but it leads to issues such as 

vacant commercial space if there is no commercial demand. Board Member Cook 

recommended incentivizing commercial development to serve this area. Mr. Daniels indicated 

we will look at incentivizing types of development in the comprehensive planning process. 

Mr. Daniels discussed the proposed FDEP land transfer; he will be meeting with FDEP this 

week to discuss it, but it will be a time-intensive process. Board Member Hobbs asked where 

the proposed roadway to US 17 will let out, which is near Hall Park Road. The Jersey Avenue 

entry points were discussed. 

Mr. Daniels presented staff recommendation with approval based on conditions set forth in 

the staff report, noting that the 20 foot natural buffer has been added to the conceptual plan 

already and condition two will be amended and discussed by the applicant. 

Board Member Cook had one comment: we must discuss as part of the comprehensive plan 

or through recommendation to council how to service the development commercially. 

Chairman Francis opened the public hearing. 

Ellen Avery-Smith (100 Whetstone Ct) introduced herself; she is a representative of the 

applicant. She introduced her team members present, including the applicant, .... , Rajesh 

Chandelur who is working on the traffic study. Ms. Avery-Smith expressed appreciation for 

Mike Daniels, who has been excellent to work with during this process. Ms. Avery-Smith 

discussed the school proportionate share and what will be required of the developer. The 

developer is no longer providing a school site because the Clay County School Board 

indicated a school site is not needed due to sites being provided in other developments in this 

area of the County, such as Governor's Creek.  

Ms. Avery-Smith informed the Board a new traffic study will be required as part of the 

development agreement if the flyover over the railroad is not approved by the time the 231st 

unit is built.  

Around 6PM - get comments about revisions to items related to conditions. 

Ms. Avery-Smith showed the Board the proposed public park; it will be a passive park with 

an observation platform or dock to allow people to see the rookeries in the wetland. This 

public park is in addition to the per unit park dedication fee. In response to a question from 

Board Member Cook's, the applicant informed him the pond is approximately 70 acres.  

Ms. Avery-Smith responded to earlier comments regarding nonresidential development 

indicating it follows the rooftops. It is necessary to reach a critical mass for the commercial 

developers to pay more attention and look to develop. 

Page 6

Item #  1.



July 27, 2021 Minutes Page 3 of 5 

 

 

Board Member Cook asked if fishing would be allowed in the public park. Bob Porter with 

D.R. Horton indicated it may be, but it may not be permitted since it is necessary to stay out 

of the buffer for the rookeries. The state will have a lot of input in regard to the development 

of the public park for that reason. 

Ms. Avery-Smith asked for Board questions. She asked they recommended approval of the 

PUD with changes to the conditions she outlined for items 2, 4, and 5. 

Vice Chair Luke asked if the townhomes would be developed in a separate area from the 

single family homes. Mr. Gislason with D.R. Horton indicated there is no plan at this time; if 

market conditions allow, the entire development will be single family, but if the market calls 

for the townhomes, they would likely be developed near the major roadways, either centrally 

or near the US 17 access point. Vice Chair Luke then asked about lot widths, to which Mr. 

Gislason indicated lots would be wider around curves naturally. He then asked what size house 

you can build on a tenth of an acre. Mr. Gislason discussed potential home sizes, from 1,400 

square feet to 3,500 square feet being the typical product, which will be provided based on 

market conditions. 

Mr. Porter indicated a 3,500 square foot home could be built on a 50 foot lot. D.R. Horton 

finds that customers are interested in less wide lots, as they don't wish to maintain larger lots.  

Mr. Chindalur came forward to answer questions about traffic. Vice Chair Luke asks how 

there is only 14% increase in traffic based on the projected population. Mr. Chindalur 

explained it is based on traffic trends, not on population. Mr. Chindalur indicated traffic is 

currently showing a negative trend on the major roadways, including US 17, but for the 

purposes of the study, a minimum of a 1% growth rate is being used. The trends are determined 

using DOT's counts on their public portal. Mr. Chindalur explained the project growth is being 

added on top of the 1% growth rate to determine traffic trends, so the base is going up 1% 

every year for the next 15 years, and on top of that, the project is added. In response to 

additional comments from Vice Chair Luke, Mr. Daniels expressed that the traffic study is 

still under review and revision.  

Board Member Cook asked what the summary of the traffic impact is. Mr. Chindalur indicated 

the addition of the First Coast Expressway will reduce traffic on US 17. Traffic will either get 

better or remain the same based on this. 

Chairman Francis called for additional questions. Chairman Francis called for members of the 

public to speak. 

Doug Johnson, 5345 Deer Island Road - the bridge won't be completed for seven years. How 

will this development impact the traffic survey and number -- specifically, when would 

development begin? Mr. Daniels let him know it's a 20 year phased project. He also asked 

when the First Coast Expressway interchange will be opened. Mr. Daniels informed him the 

interchanged is planned to open in 2025 and the bridge in 2029. 

Mr. Porter informed the Board the permitting process will be long after the rezoning is 

complete. It will take approximately one year to get the majority of their permits, a year and 

a half for FDOT. It will take over a year to do the development. Possibly, two and a half years 

Page 7

Item #  1.



July 27, 2021 Minutes Page 4 of 5 

 

 

from now, residential construction may begin. Neighborhoods typically start slow. Four years 

from now, if there are 50 homes constructed, the development will be in good shape. 

Chairman Francis asked if this would be the first development to have underground electric. 

Mr. Porter indicated all D.R. Horton developments have underground electric. 

Chairman Francis closed the public hearing. 

Chairman Francis called for additional comments from the Board. 

Vice Chair Luke summarized his understanding of the PUD. Board Member Cook 

commended the applicant on the amount of green space. 

Board Member Cook made a motion to approved proposed Ordinance O-06-2021 to rezone 

the Ayrshire Development subject to the conditions in the staff recommendation. Motion 

withdrawn. 

Condition 2 is revised to say: No more than 231 residential dwelling units may be constructed 

without redoing the traffic study if the four-lane roadway is not built at US 17. 

Condition 4: The 20-foot natural buffer is shown; this condition is null. 

Condition 5: Exhibit D has been revised; this condition is null. 

Board Member Cook made a motion to approved proposed Ordinance O-06-2021 to rezone 

the Ayrshire Development subject to the conditions in the staff recommendation as revised on 

the record by Mr. Daniels.  

Motion made by Board Member Cook, Seconded by Board Member Hobbs. Voting Yea: 

Chairman Francis, Vice Chair Luke, Board Member Cook, Board Member Hobbs 

Motion passes 4-0. 
 

BOARD BUSINESS 

BOARD DISCUSSION / COMMENTS 

Chairman Francis expressed appreciation to the Planning staff for the packet this month, which 

she indicated was very well done. She commended staff for the fact that no negative comments 

were received on the transmittal to the state. 

STAFF COMMENTS 

Mr. Daniels mentioned the invitation to the joint meeting for Council and the Board. At this 

meeting, all data and analysis, as well as goals, objectives, and policies, will be provided to 

both.  

Page 8

Item #  1.



July 27, 2021 Minutes Page 5 of 5 

 

 

Board Member Cook requested the presentation be no more than 30 minutes. He also asked that 

the material be sent out in advance. 

Mr. Daniels also informed the Board the City received the Community Development Block 

Grant (CDBG) totaling $700,000 and specified the projects it will go towards. The Board 

commended city staff on receiving the grant. 

ADJOURNMENT  

The meeting was adjourned at 7:01pm. 

NEXT MEETING: TUESDAY, AUGUST 24, 2021 AT 5:00PM 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Henrietta Francis, Chairman 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Heather Glisson, Planning & Zoning Clerk  

 

Page 9

Item #  1.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  Planning & Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: August 24, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment and Rezoning Request for property located 

in the 1300 Block of Energy Cove Court for approximately 9.4 acres. 

 

Future Land Use Amendment:     from:  Mixed Use Highway 

                                                      to:   Residential High Density  

Zoning Amendment:                     from:  C-2, General Commercial and M-2, Industrial 

                                                      to:     R-3, Residential High Density 

 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Colin Groff, Black Creek 

Engineering 
OWNER: B&B GCS Joint Venture, c/o 

John R. Smith, Jr. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 1300 Block of Energy Cove Court 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016562-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-21-0003  & ZON-21-0003 

CURRENT ZONING:  Mixed Use Highway (MUH)  

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: MUH – Mixed Use Highway 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Medium Density Residential 

(RMD) 

Z: R-2 

Use: Single Family Residential 

SOUTH: FLU: MUH 

Z: MUH  

Use: Undeveloped 

EAST: FLU: MUH 

Z: MUH 

Use: Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: MUH 

Z: MUH 

Use: Industrial  

  

Page 10

Item #  2.



BACKGROUND 

The applicant has applied for a Future Land Use and Zoning Change for the subject property for the 

construction of multifamily development.    

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

The property is currently undeveloped.  The property has approximately 355’ of frontage on Cooks Lane 

and 150’ of frontage on Energy Cove Court.  Portion of the property in the northwest and northeast near 

Cooks Lane are located within the 100-year floodplain.   The property is heavily wooded with a mixture 

of hardwood and pine Trees.  There is a City water main line located on the northern portion of the property 

that connects to Cooks Lane to the north and then connects to the adjacent property to the west. There are 

wetlands located on the northwest 25’ of the site which shall remain undisturbed.  

 

Figure 1. Aerial Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11

Item #  2.



 

Figure 2.  Existing Future Land Use 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12

Item #  2.



 

Figure 3.  Proposed Future Land Use 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13

Item #  2.



 

 

Figure 4.  Existing Zoning 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14

Item #  2.



 

 

Figure 5.  Proposed Zoning 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Item #  2.



 

 

NEEDS ANALYSIS  

Per Chapter 163.3177, Florida Statutes, need shall be based upon the amount of land designated for future 

uses and shall:  

 1) Provide a balance of uses that foster vibrant, viable communities and economic opportunities and 

address outdated development patterns, such as antiquated subdivisions; and,  

2) Allow the operation of real estate markets to provide adequate choices for residents and business, with 

the amount of land designated for future use not limited solely by the projected population. The minimum 

amount of land use required to accommodate at least a 10-year planning period must be included in the 

comprehensive plan.  

Comment: This request supports the growing demand for additional housing units, particularly in close 

proximity to commercial uses and will increase the variety of spaces available. 

URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS  

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a)9.a., Florida Statutes, identifies 13 

primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these indicators shall 

consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features and characteristics 

unique to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop as low-

intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation from MUH to RHD.  

By revising the Future Land Use designation to RHD, this will allow for higher density of residential 

development.  Currently, the City has over 20% of the City acreage guided for low density development 

but only .9% of land area for High Density Residential development.  This request would allow for 

additional high density residential development that is compatible with surrounding uses.     

(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas at 

substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are available and 

suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the urban core area of Green Cove Springs and 

adds to the existing development in the area which is suitable for developing thereby reducing 

development pressure in rural and unincorporated areas.   

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns 

generally emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed RHD Future Land Use designation is compatible with the 

surrounding development. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, rivers, 

shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Page 16

Item #  2.



Evaluation & Findings: The site has a small portion of the property which is located within a floodplain 

which will have to be addressed pursuant to the City’s Land Development Regulations as part of site 

development plan as well as meeting requirements for drainage and tree preservation.  This property does 

not have environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, shorelines, 

beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing development, the 

proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services. 

(VII) Fails to maximize use of future public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: Any future improvements to the City’s public facilities and services will be 

utilized by the project site. 

(VIII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, money, 

and energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable water, sanitary 

sewer, stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and emergency response, 

and general government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with existing 

public facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services 

and will not increase the time, money, and energy for providing and maintaining these facilities. 

(IX) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within an urban area and is not adjacent to any rural zoned 

properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and 

communities.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will allow infill development.  

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area and will allow for 

connectivity between residential and commercial uses on Cooks Lane. 

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site shall provide accessibility to Cooks Lane with emergency access 

to Energy Cove Court. 

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings: This property was guided for commercial uses and open space shall be preserved 

pursuant to the Site Development Requirements in the Land Development Code.   

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also establishes 

eight (8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed to not be 

considered urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form criteria, and 

Page 17

Item #  2.



an evaluation of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The applicant has 

provided an analysis of the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the application 

materials, and contends that the proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets 

four of the eight urban form criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the 

community in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources and 

ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial development where 

development will occur in developed areas as opposed to undeveloped areas. The proposed development 

directs the growth within the urban area.  

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will result in a 

higher density residential development utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a mix of 

uses at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a multimodal 

transportation system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application and the companion rezoning application will allow for higher 

density residential development, allowing for more walkability between the residential development and 

commercial development at the Corner of Cooks Lane and US 17.    

4. Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in areas further outside of 

the urban areas. 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding development. 

There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban areas reduces the 

pressure to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: Open Space shall be provided for as part of the landscape and tree preservation 

requirements as set forth in the Land Development Regulations.   

7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the nonresidential 

needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of nonresidential 

uses. The proposed development will bring residential units into this mixed-use, urban area, providing a 

balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing or 

planned development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an innovative 

development pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in s. 163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

 

Page 18

Item #  2.



 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the Future 

Land Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use 

of the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare. 

Policy 1.3.4: To promote redevelopment, the City shall allow higher densities and structures up to five (5) 

stories high in appropriate areas. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Objective 2.8 Site Development Traffic Circulation: The City shall require that all major developments 

and planned unit developments provide a circulation system which: provides adequate access to the major 

roadway network; provides for sound design of local and collector streets within such development…. 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Objective 4.6: Future development shall be required to connect with central sewer and water systems and 

provide drainage facilities which maximize the use of existing facilities and discourage urban sprawl. 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Maximum Development 
Potential Based on  
Existing FLU  
 

Light Industrial   (ITE 
210) 

240,000 6.97 1,675 .92 221 .97 233 

        

 

Land Use1 
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Proposed 

Residential Condo/TH (ITE 
230) 

112 6.65 732 0.62 68 0.62 68 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed development of 12 dwelling units per acre on the ±9.4-acre site would require 

a traffic study to be reviewed at the time of submittal of the site development plan. 

 

 

Page 19

Item #  2.



Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        43,725 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,143,275 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 112 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

 
Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 267,000 

Committed Loading 1 37,000 

Residual Capacity1 46,000 

Percentage of Permitted Design Capacity Utilized1 95% 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2 34,980 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 11,120 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 112 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP has the capacity to 

handle the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application. 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 2,332 lbs. / 426 tons 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (112 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 

lbs. per day) x 365 
2. Source: Clay County Comprehensive Plan 

 
Conclusion:  The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum of three 

(3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility.  The estimated impacts 

from the proposed Project are not expected to negatively impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County 

solid waste management facility’s capacity. 
 

Future Land Use and Zoning District Comparisons 

Existing Future Land Use  

Mixed Use Highway (MUH) - .  70% industrial and 30% commercial land uses. The industrial land uses 

primarily consist of storage, warehousing, and light manufacturing facilities.  The commercial land uses 

primarily consist of retail and service establishments, such as business and professional offices, hotels, 

automobile sales, service and repair, and restaurants.  No residential land uses are permitted.  The 

maximum Floor Area Ratios for the industrial land uses shall be .70 and the commercial land uses shall 

have a maximum Floor Area Ratio of .30.   

Page 20

Item #  2.



 

Proposed Future Land Use 

High Density Residential (>8 to 12 dwelling units per acre).  This category includes single-family, 

duplex and multi-family dwelling units.  It also includes churches, nursing homes, convalescence 

facilities, foster homes, and group care homes.   

 

Existing Zoning District 

The M-2 industrial district is intended to be for an industrial park. A variety of industrial and supported 

uses are allowed. 

 

The commercial high intensity (CHI), C-2 general commercial zoning category district is intended for 

intensive commercial uses which generally require a conspicuous and accessible location convenient 

to streets carrying large volumes of traffic. 

 

Proposed Zoning District  

The residential high density, R-3 zoning category district is intended to provide for multiple-family 

housing areas with densities of eight to 12 dwelling units per acre. This district should be situated so 

that it is well served by public services and have direct access to collector street or major 

thoroughfares. Careful attention must be given to traffic generation from this district to minimize 

impact on single-family districts. 

 

STAFF COMMENTS  

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Amendment from Mixed Use Highway to Residential High 

Density based upon the Urban Sprawl Analysis and Compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and compatibility 

with the surrounding area. 

Attachments include: 

1. Conceptual Plan 

2. Utility Easement 

3. Property Survey 

4. Ordinance O-15-2021 

5. Ordinance O-16-2021 

6. FLUM Application 

7. Rezoning Application 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the future land use amendment and rezoning. 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use Amendment 

Motion to recommend to City Council the approval of Ordinance O-15-2021, to amend the Future Land 

Use of the property described therein from Mixed Use Highway to Residential High Density. 

Rezoning 

Motion to recommend to City Council the approval of Ordinance O-16-2021, to amend the Zoning of the 

property described therein from General Business C-2/ Industrial M-2 to Residential High Density, R-3 

 

Page 21

Item #  2.



Page 22

Item #  2.



Page 23

Item #  2.



Page 24

Item #  2.



Page 25

Item #  2.



Page 26

Item #  2.



Page 27

Item #  2.



Page 28

Item #  2.



Page 29

Item #  2.



Page 30

Item #  2.



Page 31

Item #  2.



Page 32

Item #  2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF No.               Field Book                           Job No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
38:113-A3

AutoCAD SHX Text
 Tds

AutoCAD SHX Text
 34862-B

AutoCAD SHX Text
Certificate of Authorization No. LB 1381

AutoCAD SHX Text
Professional Surveyors & Mappers

AutoCAD SHX Text
615 Blanding Boulevard

AutoCAD SHX Text
Orange Park, Florida 32065

AutoCAD SHX Text
Telephone 904-272-1000

AutoCAD SHX Text
License No. LS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Not valid without the signature and

AutoCAD SHX Text
the original raised seal of a Florida

AutoCAD SHX Text
licensed surveyor and mapper.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Eiland & Associates, Inc.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Harold T. Eiland

AutoCAD SHX Text
2518

AutoCAD SHX Text
Found 4"x4" Concrete Monument

AutoCAD SHX Text
Found   

AutoCAD SHX Text
Set 1/2" Iron Pipe (LB 1381)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
Powerline/Pole and Anchor

AutoCAD SHX Text
Telephone Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cable T/V Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Air Conditioner Pad

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Elec. Transformer Pad

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
ET

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A B B R E V I A T I O N S

AutoCAD SHX Text
AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FM

AutoCAD SHX Text
IP

AutoCAD SHX Text
Air Conditioner

AutoCAD SHX Text
Building Restriction Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
Electric Transformer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Field Measurements

AutoCAD SHX Text
Iron Pipe

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE:  I have examined the Federal Emergency

AutoCAD SHX Text
Management Agency Flood Insurance Rate Map

AutoCAD SHX Text
dated November 4, 1992 and find that this property

AutoCAD SHX Text
is situated in Flood Zones "A" and "X".

AutoCAD SHX Text
North

AutoCAD SHX Text
CSX        Transportation        Railroad

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" I.P., LB 1381

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed Right-of-Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed Right-of-Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
Palm              Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text
River                  Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text
Chestnut              Avenue

AutoCAD SHX Text
40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'         50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Jack Revels

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R.B. 204, pg. 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Green Cove Springs Industrial Properties, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 3006, page 935

AutoCAD SHX Text
David Anderson

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 3015, page 1253

AutoCAD SHX Text
Juan Martinez

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 2897, page 1214

AutoCAD SHX Text
Karen Mears

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 2606, pg. 604

AutoCAD SHX Text
Karen Mears

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 2713, pg. 342

AutoCAD SHX Text
James Pennewell

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 2222, pg. 1828

AutoCAD SHX Text
Leroy Tyler

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 2591, pg. 656

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 24°21'05" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF COMMENCEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
David Plumlee

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 2688, pg. 627

AutoCAD SHX Text
Freeman Ebersole

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 2514, pg. 633

AutoCAD SHX Text
Barbara Gunter

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 1104, pg. 543

AutoCAD SHX Text
Corris Tucker

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.R. Book 1244, pg. 208

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAP OF  A parcel of land consisting of a portion of Lot 1. Block 1, Bayard Tract, Clay County, Florida, according to map by Charles F. Smith, recorded in the public records of said county in Deed Book "J", pages 273 and 274, said parcel also being a portion of Section 29, Block 1, according to plat of Bayard Tract recorded in Plat Book 1, page 34 of said public records, said parcel being more particularly described as follows: Commence at the southwest corner of said Lot 1, Block 1, Bayard Tract;  thence on the west line thereof, North 24 degrees 21 minutes 05 seconds West, 47.00 feet to the northwesterly line of those lands described in Official Records Book 3006, page 935 of said public records;  thence on said northwesterly line, and on a northeasterly extension thereof, North 61 degrees 51 minutes 10 seconds East, 600.54 feet;  thence North 28 degrees 08 minutes 50 seconds West, 321.70 feet to the point of beginning;  thence South 28 degrees 08 minutes 50 seconds East, 267.48 feet;  thence northeasterly, along the arc of a curve concave northwesterly and having a radius of 18.50 feet, an arc distance of 18.81 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 32 degrees 39 minutes 00 seconds East, 18.01 feet;  thence easterly, along the arc of a curve concave southerly and having a radius of 61.50 feet, an arc distance of 152.93 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 74 degrees 45 minutes 35 seconds East, 116.46 feet;  thence southeasterly, along the arc of a curve concave northeasterly and having a radius of 25.00 feet, an arc distance of 22.89 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 60 degrees 13 minutes 41 seconds East, 22.10 feet;  thence South 86 degrees 27 minutes 15 seconds East, 34.78 feet to the northwesterly line of those lands described in Official Records Book 3015, page 1253 of said public records;  thence on said northwesterly line, North 61 degrees 51 minutes 10 seconds East, 328.23 feet;  thence North 37 degrees 05 minutes 14 seconds West, 681.80 feet to the southwesterly line of Cooks Lane as per survey by Eiland & Associates for Alternate Energy Technologies, dated December 31, 2009;  thence northwesterly, along said southwesterly line and along the arc of a curve concave northeasterly and having a radius of 210.00 feet, an arc distance of 29.21 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 71 degrees 47 minutes 46 seconds West, 29.19 feet;  thence continue along said southwesterly line, North 67 degrees 48 minutes 41 seconds West, 355 feet, more or less, to the centerline of Coventry Branch;  thence southwesterly, along said centerline, 494 feet, more or less, to a point that bears North 61 degrees 09 minutes 18 seconds West, 407 feet, more or less, from the point of beginning;  thence South 61 degrees 09 minutes 18 seconds East, 407 feet, more or less, to the point of beginning;  being 9.4 acres, more or less, in area.  For:  B&B Joint Venture  Scale 1" = 80'                                                                            November 1, 2010

AutoCAD SHX Text
Southwest corner of Lot 1, Block 1, Baryard Tract

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lot 2,             Block 37

AutoCAD SHX Text
L o t     1,      B l o c k     1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" I.P., as noted

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dirt     Drive

AutoCAD SHX Text
42" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
42" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
299.66', I.P., to I.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
627.74', I.P. to I.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' Right-of-Way as per O.R. Book 1244, page 409

AutoCAD SHX Text
48" RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
Centerline of Coventry Branch

AutoCAD SHX Text
258.30', I.P. to Conc. Mon.

AutoCAD SHX Text
423.50', I.P. to I.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L5

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
L8

AutoCAD SHX Text
L9

AutoCAD SHX Text
L10

AutoCAD SHX Text
L11

AutoCAD SHX Text
L12

AutoCAD SHX Text
L13

AutoCAD SHX Text
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text
L15

AutoCAD SHX Text
L16

AutoCAD SHX Text
L17

AutoCAD SHX Text
L18

AutoCAD SHX Text
L19

AutoCAD SHX Text
L20

AutoCAD SHX Text
L21

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLUME

AutoCAD SHX Text
Cooks      

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L2

AutoCAD SHX Text
L3

AutoCAD SHX Text
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text
WELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L51

AutoCAD SHX Text
L52

AutoCAD SHX Text
L53

AutoCAD SHX Text
L54

AutoCAD SHX Text
L55

AutoCAD SHX Text
L56

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' Easement as per O.R. Book 1929, page 975

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
23' Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text
B21

AutoCAD SHX Text
B20

AutoCAD SHX Text
B19

AutoCAD SHX Text
B18

AutoCAD SHX Text
B17

AutoCAD SHX Text
B16

AutoCAD SHX Text
B15

AutoCAD SHX Text
B14

AutoCAD SHX Text
B13

AutoCAD SHX Text
B12

AutoCAD SHX Text
B11

AutoCAD SHX Text
B10

AutoCAD SHX Text
B9

AutoCAD SHX Text
B8

AutoCAD SHX Text
B7

AutoCAD SHX Text
B6

AutoCAD SHX Text
B5

AutoCAD SHX Text
B4

AutoCAD SHX Text
B3

AutoCAD SHX Text
B2

AutoCAD SHX Text
B1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L58

AutoCAD SHX Text
L59

AutoCAD SHX Text
L60

AutoCAD SHX Text
L61

AutoCAD SHX Text
L62

AutoCAD SHX Text
L63

AutoCAD SHX Text
L64

AutoCAD SHX Text
L65

AutoCAD SHX Text
L66

AutoCAD SHX Text
L67

AutoCAD SHX Text
L68

AutoCAD SHX Text
L69

AutoCAD SHX Text
L70

AutoCAD SHX Text
L71

AutoCAD SHX Text
L72

AutoCAD SHX Text
L73

AutoCAD SHX Text
L74

AutoCAD SHX Text
L75

AutoCAD SHX Text
L76

AutoCAD SHX Text
L77

AutoCAD SHX Text
L78

AutoCAD SHX Text
L79

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEARING

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
L5

AutoCAD SHX Text
S16°23'19"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text
S44°46'56"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
S21°40'12"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
L8

AutoCAD SHX Text
S50°52'06"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
L9

AutoCAD SHX Text
S44°44'19"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
L10

AutoCAD SHX Text
S07°13'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
L11

AutoCAD SHX Text
S45°55'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
39.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
L12

AutoCAD SHX Text
S17°22'18"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
32.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
L13

AutoCAD SHX Text
S53°15'45"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text
S54°58'09"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
L15

AutoCAD SHX Text
S42°54'06"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
37.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
L16

AutoCAD SHX Text
S30°39'14"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.09

AutoCAD SHX Text
L17

AutoCAD SHX Text
S29°33'40"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
L18

AutoCAD SHX Text
S41°45'11"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
L19

AutoCAD SHX Text
S48°46'57"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
L20

AutoCAD SHX Text
S38°21'06"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
L21

AutoCAD SHX Text
S20°43'27"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
51.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
L51

AutoCAD SHX Text
N20°56'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
100.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
L52

AutoCAD SHX Text
N24°15'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
L53

AutoCAD SHX Text
N25°17'09"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
L54

AutoCAD SHX Text
N17°11'18"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
98.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
L55

AutoCAD SHX Text
N24°28'42"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
102.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
L56

AutoCAD SHX Text
N22°19'04"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
63.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
L58

AutoCAD SHX Text
N33°18'55"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.29

AutoCAD SHX Text
L59

AutoCAD SHX Text
N44°27'11"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
33.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
L60

AutoCAD SHX Text
S66°15'22"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
44.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
L61

AutoCAD SHX Text
S78°21'59"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
L62

AutoCAD SHX Text
N53°56'27"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
L63

AutoCAD SHX Text
N72°27'01"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
49.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
L64

AutoCAD SHX Text
S50°48'10"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
41.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
L65

AutoCAD SHX Text
N53°27'26"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
L66

AutoCAD SHX Text
N36°12'12"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
68.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
L67

AutoCAD SHX Text
N32°47'55"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
L68

AutoCAD SHX Text
N37°15'22"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
43.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
L69

AutoCAD SHX Text
N66°51'03"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
L70

AutoCAD SHX Text
N63°28'22"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
L71

AutoCAD SHX Text
N10°27'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
L72

AutoCAD SHX Text
N26°34'02"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
75.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
L73

AutoCAD SHX Text
N28°41'46"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
58.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
L74

AutoCAD SHX Text
N12°02'32"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
L75

AutoCAD SHX Text
N31°00'01"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
67.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
L76

AutoCAD SHX Text
N35°16'14"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
L77

AutoCAD SHX Text
N09°44'59"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
34.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
L78

AutoCAD SHX Text
N13°12'25"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
61.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
L79

AutoCAD SHX Text
N41°04'26"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
55.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°51'10" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
600.54'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 28°08'50" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.48'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 61°09'18" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
407' ±

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
Wetlands

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" I.P., no I.D. #

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" I.P., LB 1381

AutoCAD SHX Text
Wetlands

AutoCAD SHX Text
Wetlands

AutoCAD SHX Text
property have not been located or shown.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.  Easements shown hereon are for drainage

AutoCAD SHX Text
and utilities unless noted otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.  This map was prepared for descriptive purposes

AutoCAD SHX Text
only and does not represent an actual survey.

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.  Underground utilities serving or crossing this

AutoCAD SHX Text
record, or matters unrecorded by this surveyor.

AutoCAD SHX Text
or restrictions, title, overlaps, or other matters of

AutoCAD SHX Text
and was not abstracted for easements, covenants

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.  This map was based on documents provided

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.   Bearings shown hereon are based on the

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENERAL NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
record bearing of S 23%%D22'55" E for the easterly

AutoCAD SHX Text
line of the CSX Transportation Railroad.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L80

AutoCAD SHX Text
L81

AutoCAD SHX Text
L82

AutoCAD SHX Text
L83

AutoCAD SHX Text
L84

AutoCAD SHX Text
L85

AutoCAD SHX Text
L86

AutoCAD SHX Text
L87

AutoCAD SHX Text
L88

AutoCAD SHX Text
L89

AutoCAD SHX Text
L90

AutoCAD SHX Text
L91

AutoCAD SHX Text
L92

AutoCAD SHX Text
L93

AutoCAD SHX Text
L94

AutoCAD SHX Text
L95

AutoCAD SHX Text
L96

AutoCAD SHX Text
L80

AutoCAD SHX Text
N63°28'22"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
L81

AutoCAD SHX Text
N66°51'03"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
41.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
L82

AutoCAD SHX Text
N37°15'22"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
35.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
L83

AutoCAD SHX Text
N32°47'55"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
69.97

AutoCAD SHX Text
L84

AutoCAD SHX Text
N36°12'12"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
72.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
L85

AutoCAD SHX Text
N53°27'26"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
64.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
L86

AutoCAD SHX Text
S50°48'10"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
L87

AutoCAD SHX Text
N72°27'01"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
31.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
L88

AutoCAD SHX Text
N53°56'27"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
49.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
L89

AutoCAD SHX Text
S78°22'14"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
L90

AutoCAD SHX Text
N46°01'05"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
13.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
L91

AutoCAD SHX Text
N22°19'04"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
59.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
L92

AutoCAD SHX Text
N24°28'42"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
103.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
L93

AutoCAD SHX Text
N17°11'18"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
98.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
L94

AutoCAD SHX Text
N25°17'09"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
101.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
L95

AutoCAD SHX Text
N24°15'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
103.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
L96

AutoCAD SHX Text
N20°56'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
97.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.3 acres

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°51'10" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
328.23'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 37°05'14" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.80'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 67°48'41" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
355' ±

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 71%%d47'46" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.19'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Rad = 210.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Arc = 29.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.4 acres

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 32%%d39'00" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 74%%D45'35" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 86%%D27'15" E, 34.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Radius = 18.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Arc = 18.81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Radius = 61.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Arc = 152.93'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 60%%d13'41" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Radius = 25.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Arc = 22.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
116.46'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 28°08'50" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
321.70'

AutoCAD SHX Text
494' %%P

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 61°09'18" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
407' ±



ORDINANCE NO. O-15-2021 
 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

FOR ±9.4 ACRES OF PROPERTY LOCATED AT COOKS LANE, 

IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID NUMBER 016562-000-00, MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM MUH, 

MIXED USE HIGHWAY, TO RHD, RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY; 

PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, an application for a small-scale comprehensive plan amendment, as 

described below, to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map has been filed with the City; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed amendment 

on August 24, 2021 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency 

(LPA) and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing 

concerning the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on September 7, 2021 and September 21, 2021 and provided for and 

received public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  

1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  The proposed Future Land Use Map amendment is consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

Page 33

Item #  2.



Ordinance No. O-15-2021 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

3.  The amendment will not cause a reduction in the adopted level of service standards 

for transportation, potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, stormwater, recreation, 

or public schools. 

 

Section 2. Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map Amended.  The 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map is hereby amended from Mixed Use Highway to 

Residential High Density on Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016562-000-00 in accordance with the 

legal description found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 3. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 4. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 5. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 6. Effective Date.  The effective date of this plan amendment, if the 

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 

If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 

agency or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 

amendment has become effective. 

 

  

Page 34

Item #  2.



Ordinance No. O-15-2021 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 7th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2021. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Edward R. Gaw, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 21st DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2021. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Edward R. Gaw, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 35

Item #  2.



Ordinance No. O-15-2021 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016562-000 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

A parcel of land consisting of a portion of Lot 1. Block 1, Bayard Tract, Clay County, Florida, according 

to map by Charles F. Smith, recorded in the public records of said county in Deed Book "J", pages 273 and 

274, said parcel also being a portion of Section 29, Block 1, according to plat of Bayard Tract recorded in 

Plat Book 1, page 34 of said public records, said parcel being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the southwest corner of said Lot 1, Block 1, Bayard Tract; thence on the west line thereof, 

North 24 degrees 21 minutes 05 seconds West, 47.00 feet to the northwesterly line of those lands 

described in Official Records Book 3006, page 935 of said public records; thence on said northwesterly 

line, and on a northeasterly extension thereof, North 61 degrees 51 minutes 10 seconds East, 600.54 

feet; thence North 28 degrees 08 minutes 50 seconds West, 321.70 feet to the point of beginning; 

thence South 28 degrees 08 minutes 50 seconds East, 267.48 feet; thence northeasterly, along the arc 

of a curve concave northwesterly and having a radius of 18.50 feet, an arc distance of 18.81 feet, said 

arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 32 degrees 39 minutes 00 seconds East, 

18.01 feet; thence easterly, along the arc of a curve concave southerly and having a radius of 61.50 feet, 

an arc distance of 152.93 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 74 

degrees 45 minutes 35 seconds East, 116.46 feet; thence southeasterly, along the arc of a curve 

concave northeasterly and having a radius of 25.00 feet, an arc distance of 22.89 feet, said arc being 

subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 60 degrees 13 minutes 41 seconds East, 22.10 feet; 

thence South 86 degrees 27 minutes 15 seconds East, 34.78 feet to the northwesterly line of those lands 

described in Official Records Book 3015, page 1253 of said public records; thence on said northwesterly 

line, North 61 degrees 51 minutes 10 seconds East, 328.23 feet; thence North 37 degrees 05 minutes 14 

seconds West, 681.80 feet to the southwesterly line of Cooks Lane as per survey by Eiland & Associates 

for Alternate Energy Technologies, dated December 31, 2009; thence northwesterly, along said 

southwesterly line and along the arc of a curve concave northeasterly and having a radius of 210.00 feet, 

an arc distance of 29.21 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 71 

degrees 47 minutes 46 seconds West, 29.19 feet; thence continue along said southwesterly line, North 

67 degrees 48 minutes 41 seconds West, 355 feet, more or less, to the centerline of Coventry Branch; 

thence southwesterly, along said centerline, 494 feet, more or less, to a point that bears North 61 

degrees 09 minutes 18 seconds West, 407 feet, more or less, from the point of beginning; thence South 

61 degrees 09 minutes 18 seconds East, 407 feet, more or less, to the point of beginning; being 9.4 

acres, more or less, in area. 

 

 

 

Page 36

Item #  2.



Ordinance No. O-15-2021 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37

Item #  2.



ORDINANCE NO. O-16-2021 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA REZONING ±9.4 ACRES OF PROPERTY LOCATED AT 

COOKS LANE, IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID NUMBER 016562-000-00, MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM MUH, MIXED 

USE HIGHWAY (M-2/C-2), TO R-3, RESIDENTIAL HIGH DENSITY; 

PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to amend the Future Land Use Map for the 

subject parcel from Residential Medium Density to Residential Professional Office; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City approved the Future Land Use Map amendment for the subject 

property such that it will be designated as RHD, Residential High Density on the Future Land Use 

Map of the City, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from Mixed Use 

Highway, M-2/C-2, to R-3; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory powers 

to rezone properties within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

August 24, 2021 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA), 

and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning 

the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on September 7, 2021 and September 21, 2021 and provided for and 

received public participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from Mixed Use Highway M-2/C-2 to R-3: 

Page 38

Item #  2.



Ordinance O-16-2021 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

Tax Parcel ID# 38-06-26-016562-000-00, in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit 

“A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage. 
 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 7th DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2021. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Edward R. Gaw, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39

Item #  2.



Ordinance O-16-2021 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 21st DAY OF SEPTEMBER 2021. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Edward R. Gaw, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40

Item #  2.



Ordinance O-16-2021 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016562-000 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
A parcel of land consisting of a portion of Lot 1. Block 1, Bayard Tract, Clay County, Florida, according 

to map by Charles F. Smith, recorded in the public records of said county in Deed Book "J", pages 273 and 

274, said parcel also being a portion of Section 29, Block 1, according to plat of Bayard Tract recorded in 

Plat Book 1, page 34 of said public records, said parcel being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the southwest corner of said Lot 1, Block 1, Bayard Tract; thence on the west line thereof, 

North 24 degrees 21 minutes 05 seconds West, 47.00 feet to the northwesterly line of those lands 

described in Official Records Book 3006, page 935 of said public records; thence on said northwesterly 

line, and on a northeasterly extension thereof, North 61 degrees 51 minutes 10 seconds East, 600.54 

feet; thence North 28 degrees 08 minutes 50 seconds West, 321.70 feet to the point of beginning; 

thence South 28 degrees 08 minutes 50 seconds East, 267.48 feet; thence northeasterly, along the arc 

of a curve concave northwesterly and having a radius of 18.50 feet, an arc distance of 18.81 feet, said 

arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 32 degrees 39 minutes 00 seconds East, 

18.01 feet; thence easterly, along the arc of a curve concave southerly and having a radius of 61.50 feet, 

an arc distance of 152.93 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 74 

degrees 45 minutes 35 seconds East, 116.46 feet; thence southeasterly, along the arc of a curve 

concave northeasterly and having a radius of 25.00 feet, an arc distance of 22.89 feet, said arc being 

subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 60 degrees 13 minutes 41 seconds East, 22.10 feet; 

thence South 86 degrees 27 minutes 15 seconds East, 34.78 feet to the northwesterly line of those lands 

described in Official Records Book 3015, page 1253 of said public records; thence on said northwesterly 

line, North 61 degrees 51 minutes 10 seconds East, 328.23 feet; thence North 37 degrees 05 minutes 14 

seconds West, 681.80 feet to the southwesterly line of Cooks Lane as per survey by Eiland & Associates 

for Alternate Energy Technologies, dated December 31, 2009; thence northwesterly, along said 

southwesterly line and along the arc of a curve concave northeasterly and having a radius of 210.00 feet, 

an arc distance of 29.21 feet, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of North 71 

degrees 47 minutes 46 seconds West, 29.19 feet; thence continue along said southwesterly line, North 

67 degrees 48 minutes 41 seconds West, 355 feet, more or less, to the centerline of Coventry Branch; 

thence southwesterly, along said centerline, 494 feet, more or less, to a point that bears North 61 

degrees 09 minutes 18 seconds West, 407 feet, more or less, from the point of beginning; thence South 

61 degrees 09 minutes 18 seconds East, 407 feet, more or less, to the point of beginning; being 9.4 

acres, more or less, in area. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Item #  2.



Ordinance O-16-2021 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

 

Page 42

Item #  2.



Page 43

Item #  2.



Page 44

Item #  2.



Page 45

Item #  2.



Page 46

Item #  2.



Page 47

Item #  2.



Page 48

Item #  2.



Page 49

Item #  2.



Page 50

Item #  2.



Page 51

Item #  2.



Page 52

Item #  2.



Page 53

Item #  2.



Page 54

Item #  2.



Page 55

Item #  2.



Page 56

Item #  2.



Page 57

Item #  2.



Page 58

Item #  2.



Page 59

Item #  2.


	Top
	Item #  1.	PZB: Minutes 6-22-2021 and 7-27-2021
	2021-06-22_PZB
	2021-07-27_PZB

	Item #  2.	PZB: Groff SsCPA & Rezoning - O-15-2021 and O-16-2021
	Staff Report_Energy Cove Court
	Conceptual Design_07012021
	Comments_Easement Legal Description
	Comments_Energy Cove Court Easement Drawings
	Survey - Muilti-family site
	Ordinance O-15-2021 - SsCPA - Cooks Ln 016562-000-00
	Ordinance O-16-2021 - RZ - Cooks Ln 016562-000-00
	App_ZON
	App_ZON_Statement of Proposed Change_Maps
	App_FLU Amendment
	App_FLU_Statement of Proposed Change_Maps
	App_Owner Affidavit

	Bottom

